STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

 ORIGINAL

Appeal from Beaufort County

Honorable Brooks P. Goldsmith, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

SAMUEL T. COLLINS,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2017-002221

RECEIVED

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JUL 26 2018

SC Court of Appeals

TAYLOR D GILLIAM
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

- I. Did the trial judge err in permitting the State to introduce text messages allegedly sent from Appellant's phone where the State failed to authenticate the messages?**

- II. Did the trial judge err in failing to direct a verdict in Appellant's favor on the charges of murder and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, where the evidence at trial only showed Appellant's wife driving around the home where the decedent was shot, where Appellant's DNA was found on the shotgun, and where no evidence was presented linking Appellant to the actual shooting?**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In April 2016, a Beaufort County grand jury indicted Appellant for murder and possession of a weapon during a violent crime. R. * (indictments). The State, represented by Kimberly L. Smith and Hunter Phelan Swanson, called Appellant's case for trial before the Honorable Brooks P. Goldsmith and a jury on October 16, 2017. Tr. 1. Mitchell Edward Farley represented Appellant. Tr. 1. At the conclusion of the trial, the jury found Appellant guilty as charged. Tr. 367, ll. 18 – 25.

Judge Goldsmith sentenced Appellant to five years on the possession of a weapon charge and fifty years on the murder charge. Tr. 375, l. 20 – Tr. 376, l. 2. The sentences were crafted to run concurrently. Id.

This brief follows.

STANDARDS OF REVIEW

“The admission of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion.” State v. Hatcher, 392 S.C. 86, 91, 708 S.E.2d 750, 753 (2011) (quoting State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 208, 631 S.E.2d 262, 265 (2006)). “ An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” Id.; see also State v. Brockmeyer, 406 S.C. 324, 340, 751 S.E.2d 645, 653 (2013).

“A case should be submitted to the jury when the evidence is circumstantial ‘if there is any substantial evidence which reasonably tends to prove the guilt of the accused or from which his guilt may be fairly and logically deduced.’” State v. Bostick, 392 S.C. 134, 139, 708 S.E.2d 774, 776 (2011) (quoting State v. Mitchell, 341 S.C. 406, 409, 535 S.E.2d 126, 127 (2000)). “Evidence must constitute positive proof of facts and circumstances which reasonably tends to prove guilt.” Id. “Unless there is a total failure of competent evidence as to the charges alleged, refusal by the trial judge to direct a verdict of acquittal is not error.” Id. at 139, 708 S.E.2d at 776-777. “On appeal of the denial of a directed verdict of acquittal, this Court must look at the evidence in the light most favorable to the state.” Id. at 139, 708 S.E.2d at 777; see also State v. Hepburn, 406 S.C. 416, 429 753 S.E.2d 402, 409 (2013). If the state failed to present any direct evidence or any substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove guilt of the accused, the appellate court must reverse the lower court’s denial of the directed verdict motion. Hepburn, 406 S.C. at 416, 429 S.E.2d at 409.

ARGUMENT

I. The trial judge erred in permitting the State to introduce text messages allegedly sent from Appellant's phone where the State failed to authenticate the messages.

Appellant's indictments arose after video evidence supposedly showed his wife, Colette Collins, driving around the home where the decedent was shot. Following the admission of circumstantial evidence through expert witnesses, Appellant was found guilty of murder and possession of a weapon during a violent crime.

Relevant facts

Robert Vaux lived at the home where Jon Cherol was shot and killed in October 2015. Tr. 109, l. 15 – Tr. 110, l. 23. Cherol was living with Vaux following a falling-out with his business partner. Tr. 110, ll. 10 – 20. Vaux recalled waking up shortly after midnight on or about October 28, 2015 and hearing Cherol speaking with one of his friends, Joe Rueby, on the back porch. Tr. 110, l. 21 – Tr. 115, l. 14.

Vaux spoke with Cherol and Rueby before going back to sleep. Id. He testified that he heard two shotgun reports around 12:45 a.m. Id. Law enforcement arrived and bagged the hands of Vaux and Rueby. Id. Cherol's body was discovered on the couch of the back patio. Tr. 108, ll. 2 – 19. Prior to trial, Vaux had never before seen Appellant. Tr. 126, ll. 24 – 25. Furthermore, he did not see anyone else at his home that night. Tr. 127, ll. 1 – 2.

Law enforcement recovered two shotgun shells in Vaux's backyard. Tr. 132, ll. 7 – 11. Without providing much explanation, Baker Odom, an officer with the Bluffton Police Department, indicated that he interviewed Colette Collins, Appellant's wife. Tr. 136, l. 24 – Tr.

137, l. 25. Law enforcement obtained a search warrant for the Collins' address. Tr. 140, ll. 5 – 12. Multiple cell phones, a gun, and some ammunition was located. Id.

Appellant was also interviewed. Notably, during the interview Appellant never incriminated himself. Tr. 145, ll. 16 – 18. He denied responsibility repeatedly. Tr. 145, ll. 19 – 21. He offered some insight into a prior robbery attempt at his house: “two individuals came to his house to attempt to rob him.” Tr. 227, ll. 14 – 23.

As a result of the robbery attempt, Cody Brown lent Appellant a shotgun in September 2015. Tr. 192, ll. 13 – 25. Brown originally met Appellant in 2010 or 2011 through a construction job. Tr. 190, l. 21 – Tr. 191, l. 2. Over the objection of defense counsel, Brown testified that Appellant requested the shotgun for self-defense. Tr. 193, ll. 6 – 18. Specifically, Appellant informed Brown “that some people owed him money and ... they retaliated back at him and were threatening him.” Tr. 193, ll. 20 – 23.

Brown indicated that the shotgun was returned to him on or about October 28, 2015, although he could not recall the exact date. Tr. 193, l. 24 – Tr. 194, l. 3. The State sought to elicit details of a text message received by Brown, supposedly sent from Appellant. Following multiple objections by defense counsel, the trial judge excused the jury and heard from counsel:

Clearly, a text message is hearsay. I don't think that there is any doubt. And the State has argued that the exception is a statement against self-interest, statement by party opponent.

First of all, they need to show that the message came from the device in question. Just because the number is on there, a number associated with Sam Collins is on there, they haven't shown that that message actually came from that phone. They have no one to say that this phone, they have not introduced any evidence to say this phone sent that message.

So the crux of the matter is, is that if they're going to argue that the exception is statement by a party opponent, they have to show that the party opponent has made that statement. And just because that phone - - just because that phone has a number associated with Mr. Collins doesn't, A, mean that Mr. Collins sent it,

and they still have not shown that Mr. Collins's phone sent it. They can only say that Mr. Brown's phone received it. So clearly, it's hearsay. That's without a doubt the exception I don't think applies because they've not laid the proper foundation and set that up. For that reason, we would object to the testimony.

Tr. 197, l. 5 – Tr. 198, l. 3. In response, the State indicated that the challenge to this evidence “goes to the weight of the evidence, not the admissibility of it.” Tr. 198, ll. 12 – 14. The State also contended that the proper foundation was laid. Tr. 198, ll. 16 – 25. The trial court “agree[d] with the argument in the position taken by the State in this case, and therefore denie[d] the motion, overrule[d] the objection.” Tr. 199, ll. 1 – 3.

The jury was brought back into the courtroom and heard from Brown about the text messages allegedly sent by Appellant. Tr. 199, l. 12 – Tr.292, l. 21. The first text message received by Brown said “I returned your shotgun... I put it in the back of your truck and just riding around tonight.” Id. Brown discovered the shotgun in the back of his truck covered in a camouflage jacket. Id. The shotgun was loaded and the safety was off. Id.

Brown ejected the shells—there was a fired shell and two others—and returned the gun to his safe. Id. Brown testified about another text message he received, and he again alleged that it was from Appellant. Tr. 202, ll. 10 – 21. This one read “You haven't seen me.” Id.

On cross-examination, Brown admitted that he had “no way of saying whether or not that message was written or came from [Appellant], if it came from Colette Collins or if it came from somebody else.” Tr. 204, ll. 3 – 16.

Counsel for Appellant renewed the motion to suppress the text messages:

The text messages cannot be verified that they actually came from him. The text messages could have come from anybody, from one of four to five phones that he used. So the text messages, should not, in the first place, come in, but they ... are not significant, substantial enough circumstantial evidence to justify this going to the jury.

Tr. 330, ll. 1 – 7.

Discussion

The proponent of evidence must satisfy “[t]he requirement of authentication or identification as a condition precedent to admissibility.” Rule 901(a), SCRE. This requirement “is satisfied by evidence sufficient to support a finding that the matter in question is what its proponent claims.” Id. While the burden is not high, the proponent must offer a satisfactory foundation to permit the jury to conclude the evidence is authentic. Deep Keel, LLC v. Atlantic Private Equity Group, LLC, 413 S.C. 58, 64-65, 773 S.E.2d 607, 610 (Ct. App. 2015)(citing United States v. Hassan, 742 F.3d 104, 133 (4th Cir. 2014)).

One of the most common ways for the proponent to authenticate evidence is through the testimony of a witness with knowledge that the “matter is what it is claimed to be.” See Rule 901(b)(1), SCRE. Another way to authenticate evidence is by showing the evidence contains “distinctive characteristics and the like.” Rule 901(b)(4), SCRE. “Appearance, contents, substance, internal patterns, or other distinctive characteristics, taken in conjunction with circumstances” may serve to authenticate evidence. Id.; see also State v. Anderson, 386 S.C. 120, 129, 687 S.E.2d 35, 39-40 (2009)(finding a master fingerprint card authenticated where an expert explained the prints on the master card were taken at a correctional facility on a specific date, and assigned a unique state identifying number).

“ ‘Hearsay’ is a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted.” Rule 801(c), SCRE. “A statement is not hearsay if ... [t]he statement is offered against a party and is ... the party's own statement in either an individual or representative capacity.” Rule 801(d)(2)(A), SCRE. “As a general rule, statements or declarations made by one accused of a crime are admissible against him.” State v. Beck, 342 S.C. 129, 134, 536 S.E.2d 679, 682 (2000)

(quoting State v. Plyler, 275 S.C. 291, 295, 270 S.E.2d 126, 128 (1980)). “Of course, such evidence must meet the threshold test of admissibility, i.e., relevance.” Beck at 134, 536 S.E.2d at 682.

Generally, all relevant evidence is admissible. Rule 402, SCRE; State v. Saltz, 346 S.C. 114, 127, 551 S.E.2d 240, 247 (2001). Relevant evidence is evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence. Rule 401, SCRE. Relevant evidence may be excluded where “its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice.” Saltz 346 S.C. at 127, 551 S.E.2d at 247 (quoting Rule 403, SCRE).

Defense counsel attempted on multiple occasions to prevent admission of these text messages. Counsel introduced the text messages:

The first one is (as read): I hope you don't wake up from this text. Put gun back in the truck. Was going to wrap it in that camo. Gloves in there too. Had a late night ride. Just been us. No [] JT crew in the morning. Just let me. See you soon. Thanks.

And then there's another text message that says (as read): You haven't seen me. I haven't [] seen you.

The State has to prove that the messages came from the device in question.

Tr. 169, l. 20 – Tr. 170, l. 4. Defense counsel explained that “the State needs to authenticate that the message came from the device in question. The State has to overcome the hearsay.” Tr. 170, l. 7 – Tr. 171, l. 6. Counsel further posited that “it's impossible for [the State] to authenticate that the person who owned that phone actually sent the text message” and therefore the State could not authenticate that the printout is an accurate representation of the text messages. Id.

After the State responded that Brown would be available to testify, defense counsel opined that a witness cannot authenticate where the messages came from or how they were

obtained. Tr. 172, ll. 17 – 22. There existed printouts from a cell phone carrier, but a records custodian was not brought in to authenticate them. Tr. 172, l. 24 – Tr. 173, l. 5. Regarding the printout of the text message data, defense counsel moved to suppress:

Judge, there's clearly a break in the chain, you know. How did they obtain these records? By a search warrant. Where did the - - do we have someone from Verizon to say this is how we keep our records in the regular course of business? I have no question about the honesty of the solicitor's department, but there is just too much middle ground in there, spoliation of evidence, you know, that can go on. And someone's got to say that this is the record we have, you know.

Tr. 174, ll. 9 – 17. The trial court agreed and ruled the cell phone data printouts inadmissible.

Tr. 175, ll. 8 – 12.

The State failed to authenticate the text messages purportedly between Appellant and Brown. No other witnesses were parties to the conversations, and Brown never heard Appellant's voice.

As evident by the State's closing argument, the text messages were critical to the State's case:

Mr. Brown didn't hear anything about the gun until he received a text message at about 2 a.m. on October 28, 2015. And he said, 'I returned your gun. It's in the back of your truck.' The next morning, Mr. Brown goes out to the truck, clearly he was asleep during that time, and finds the gun loosely wrapped, camouflage jacket and pants, and there's a hat that was also found out there. Took the gun inside, unloaded it, because it was loaded, the safety was off, like I said, and leaves everything in the garage.

The next time he hears from Mr. Collins is two days later. 'You haven't seen me,' is the text that he receives. The next thing he knows, he's talking to the police and telling them all of that. And they collect all of this evidence from his garage that Samuel Collins brought back to this house after he murdered Jon Cherol.

Tr. 340, ll. 4 – 19.

The prejudice deriving from the improper admission of those messages cannot be overstated. The State used the text messages to allege that Appellant returned the shotgun to

Brown the morning of the shooting and then attempted to cover his tracks a few days later. The judge's improper admission of the text messages constituted reversible error.

Though evidence may be evaluated to determine its admissibility on various different grounds, it still must meet the requirement of authenticity in order to be admissible. See State v. Anderson, 386 S.C. 120, 127, 687 S.E.2d 35, 38 (2009) (noting, even though evidence may generally be considered not to violate the prohibition against various rules of evidence, "the proponent of the evidence must still comply with authentication requirements" in order for it to be admissible).

The content of the text messages was not prepared in the administration of an entity's affairs. Rather, it was prepared by parties not acting in the regular course of any business. These text messages constituted inadmissible hearsay not subject to any applicable exception. The first text message goes to the truth of the matter asserted, namely the contention that Appellant returned the shotgun to Brown the night of the shooting. They are not cumulative to other unobjected testimony.

"Error may not be predicated upon a ruling which admits or excludes evidence unless a substantial right of the party is affected." Rule 103, SCRE. In other words, to warrant reversal based on the admission or exclusion of evidence, the complaining party must prove both the error of the ruling and the resulting prejudice. Vaught v. A.O. Hardee & Sons, Inc., 366 S.C. 475, 480, 623 S.E.2d 373, 375 (2005); Fields v. Reg'l Med. Ctr. Orangeburg, 363 S.C. 19, 26, 609 S.E.2d 506, 509 (2005).

To establish prejudice, the appellant must convince this Court that there is a reasonable probability that the jury's verdict was influenced by the challenged evidence. Fields, 363 S.C. at 26, 609 S.E.2d at 509. Interpreting the text messages as offered by the State, they appear to

indicate that Appellant, who walked with a noticeable limp, returned the shotgun to Brown on the night of the shooting. Tr. 148, ll. 17 – 21. Without that information, the jury would have been left with the remaining scant circumstantial evidence.

Appellant's wife could have commandeered his cell phone and texted Brown, posing as Appellant. There are a number of potential explanations for the receipt of these messages, which is why the State should have been required to authenticate these messages. Because they were admitted without being authenticated, the jury attributed these statements to Appellant and convicted him.

II. The trial judge erred in failing to direct a verdict in Appellant's favor on the charges of murder and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, where the evidence at trial only showed Appellant's wife driving around the home where the decedent was shot, where Appellant's DNA was found on the shotgun, and where no evidence was presented linking Appellant to the actual shooting.

The State only proved that Colette Collins was driving around near the home where the decedent was. According to the State's expert witnesses, Appellant's DNA was found on the shotgun. There was no evidence he fired it. Brown's testimony appeared to indicate that Appellant borrowed the gun and returned it. In between, the State offered no evidence, circumstantial or direct, that Appellant was the one who pulled the trigger.

At the conclusion of the State's case-in-chief, counsel for Appellant moved for a directed verdict:

When you take all the evidence in the totality in the light most favorable to the State, I don't believe that they have proven every single element of the crime charged. I think that the evidence that they've put in just raises a mere suspicion that he may have committed the crime. There is no direct evidence in this case linking the defendant to the crime, so we move to circumstantial evidence.

The circumstantial evidence is scant. There is - - I would hardly call it firm circumstantial evidence. It's certainly not substantial. There is DNA. His DNA is there. There's many alternatives. There is the DNA and the text messages. The text messages cannot be verified that they actually came from him. The text messages could have come from anybody, from one of four to five phones that he used. So the text messages should not, in the first place, come in, but they should - - they are not significant, substantial enough circumstantial evidence to justify this going to the jury.

The ... DNA evidence, there's no actual physical link to the defendant being there. The DNA evidence is from an obscure object far away from the scene and it's easily, as the State, I think, would say, could easily have been transmitted via the clothing that it was wrapped in.

For those reasons in the light most favorable to the State, the State has presented no direct evidence with regards to this defendant, and any circumstantial evidence doesn't rise to the level of substantial as the law requires.

Tr. 329, l. 14 – Tr. 330, l. 18.

In response, the State alluded to the video of Colette Collins driving around and the DNA evidence located on the shotgun and shotgun shells. Tr. 330, l. 21 – Tr. 331, l. 11. The trial court denied the motion. Tr. 331, ll. 14 – 17. Defense counsel renewed this motion following closing arguments, and it was again denied. Tr. 356, l. 20 – Tr. 357, l. 7. Counsel would later renew these motions following the jury's verdict. Tr. 371, ll. 13 – 17.

A defendant is entitled to a directed verdict when the prosecution fails to provide evidence of the offense charged. State v. Brown, 103S.C. 437, 88 S.E.2d 1916; State v. Weston, 367 S.C. 279, 292, 625 S.E.2d 641, 648 (2006); State v. McHoney, 344 S.C. 85, 97 S.E.2d 30, 36 (2001). "If there is any direct evidence or any substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused," the trial judge may deny the motion for directed verdict. State v.

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