**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals**

ORIGINAL

Appeal from Beaufort County
The Honorable Brooks P. Goldsmith, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

SAMUEL T. COLLINS,

Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2017-002221

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

DEC 14 2018

SC Court of Appeals

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

SUSANNAH R. COLE
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 68383
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-6305

ISAAC MCDUFFIE STONE, III
Solicitor, Fourteenth Judicial Circuit
Post Office Box 1880
Bluffton, SC 29910
(843) 779-8477

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

S.C. 173, 177, 460 S.E.2d 368, 370 (1995). The standard of review is limited to determining whether the trial court's ruling is supported by any evidence. *State v. Breeze*, 379 S.C. 538, 543, 665 S.E.2d 247, 250 (Ct. App. 2008) (emphasis added).

How the Issue Arose at Trial

The defense moved to suppress two text messages the State sought to introduce. The texts were allegedly from Collins' phone to that of Cody Brown (R. p. 131, line 8 – p. 132, line 12.) The defense argued the State must authenticate that the message came from Collins' phone, arguing the text messages were hearsay (R. p. 132, lines 14-18.) Collins further argued that the State must authenticate "that the person who owned that phone actually sent the text messages." (R. p. 132, line 19-23.)

The State argued Cody Brown would testify his number received the text messages and he would identify the receiving phone as his. (R. p. 133, lines 8-12.) The solicitor said Brown would identify the number he used to communicate with Collins several weeks before the crime. (R. p. 133, lines 12-18.) The State also argued that whether Collins actually sent the messages would "go to the weight of the evidence, not the admissibility." (R. p. 133, lines 19-23.)

Collins argued that without a witness who could authenticate "where those messages came from, how they were obtained, any kind of chain" then the messages should not be allowed to be admitted. (R. p. 134, line 19 –p. 135, line 5.) The solicitor told the judge an officer would testify he obtained a search warrant for the phone, and Brown would testify it is an accurate depiction of the content of the messages. (R. p. 135, line 9-12.) The Solicitor said she understood Collins' objected to the admission of the actual document with the printed out text conversation, but "Mr. Bown can testify to the content." (R. p. 135, lines 9-12.) The court appeared to understand the objection to the actual printout document, but denied Collins' motion to suppress

the messages for their content. (R. p. 135, lines 13-15.) The court clarified Brown could testify, after refreshing his memory from the document, if he could remember what was on his phone. (R. p. 135, lines 21-25.) The court said the document itself was not admissible because the State had no one to authenticate it. (R. p. 136, lines 1-3.)

Collins argued the document was the issue, not the content, saying “I totally agree with the Court and I think it would be fine for the witness, Mr. Brown, to testify from his, you know, memory as to what the text messages said. But I think entering that document in as a piece of evidence without being able to authenticate and establish a chain, I don’t think that’s fair game.” (R. p. 136, lines 17-23.) The Court again agreed with the defense, finding the documents themselves inadmissible. (R. p. 137, lines 8-12.)

Later, during Brown’s testimony, Brown said he received a text message during the night that Collins put the gun in the back of Brown’s truck. (R. p. 155, line 24 – p. 156, line 12.) The defense did not object to Brown’s recollection of the content of the text message. (R. p. 156, lines 1-7.) However, when asked what the text message specifically said, Collins objected, arguing hearsay. (R. p. 156, lines 12-13.) The court instructed the State to “lay a better foundation” to show the texts were a statement by a party opponent. (R. p. 156, lines 14-18.)

The State asked Brown if knew Collins’ cell phone number, and Brown affirmed he did. (R. p. 156, line 24 – p. 157, line 2.) Brown said the message he received during the night was from the number he associated with Collins. (R. p. 157, lines 1-8.) When the State again asked what the text message said, Collins objected. (R. p. 158, lines 17-21.)

Collins said that because the State argued the texts messages were statements against interest and statements by a party opponent, then the State must prove the message came from the device in question. (R. p. 159, lines 5-11.) Specifically, Collins said the following:

So the crux of the matter is, is that if they're going to argue that the exception is statement by a party opponent, they have to show that the party opponent has made the statement. And just because that phone—just because that phone has a number associated with Mr. Collins doesn't, A, mean that Mr. Collins sent it, and they still have not shown that Mr. Collins' phone sent it. They can only say that Mr. Brown's phone received it. So clearly its hearsay.

(R. p. 159, lines 17-25.) The solicitor responded that, given they had shown Collins was associated with that phone number, the question of whether Collins sent the text was a question of the weight of the evidence, not admissibility. (R. p. 160, lines 5-25.) The court agreed, denying Collins' motion to suppress the messages. (R. p. 161, lines 1-3.)

Discussion

A party offering evidence must meet “[t]he requirement of authentication ... as a condition precedent to admissibility.” Rule 901(a), SCRE. The authentication requirement “is satisfied by evidence sufficient to support a finding that the matter in question is what its proponent claims.” *Id.* “[T]he burden to authenticate ... is not high” and requires only that the proponent “offer[] a satisfactory foundation from which the jury could reasonably find that the evidence is authentic.” *United States v. Hassan*, 742 F.3d 104, 133 (4th Cir.2014) (decided under Fed.R.Evid. 901(a)(3)); *see also* 29A Am. Jur. 2d Evidence § 1045 (2008) (“The authentication requirement does not demand that the proponent of ... evidence conclusively demonstrate [its] genuineness....”). *Deep Keel, LLC v. Atl. Private Equity Grp., LLC*, 413 S.C. 58, 64–65, 773 S.E.2d 607, 610 (Ct. App. 2015).

South Carolina's Rule of Evidence 901 provides a non-exclusive list of ways in which evidence may be authenticated. For example, Rule 901(b)(1) provides generally that a “witness with knowledge” that the testimony is what it is claimed to be may authenticate the evidence. By way of further example, statements over a telephone may be authenticated by voice identification. *See* Rule 901(b)(5). Handwriting may be identified by a non-expert familiar with

the writing. *See* 901(b)(2). Perhaps most relevant to text messaging, Rule 901(6) provides that telephone conversations may be authenticated with the following:

Telephone Conversations. Telephone conversations, by evidence that a call was made to the number assigned at the time by the telephone company to a particular person or business, if (A) in the case of a person, circumstances, including self-identification, show the person answering to be the one called, or (B) in the case of a business, the call was made to a place of business and the conversation related to business reasonably transacted over the telephone.

Rule 901(6), SCRE. Although the rule does not address text messages directly, Rule 901 explicitly states the examples listed in subsection (b) are “by way of illustration only” and are not intended to be an exhaustive list of the ways to properly authenticate evidence. This Court must look to supporting case law for that determination as it applies to text messages.

Respondent is unable to find any published South Carolina case directly addressing the authentication of text messages by non-experts or records custodian. However, other state and federal jurisdictions have examined this issue and found authentication by a lay witness to be sufficient, so long as the witness demonstrates a familiarity with the evidence offered. Contrary to Collins’ argument the State must present proof Collins actually typed the text messages himself, other jurisdictions have not required proponents offering printouts of emails, internet chat room dialogues, and cellular phone text messages to authenticate them with direct evidence, such as an admission by the author or the testimony of a witness who saw the purported author typing the message. *See, e.g., United States v. Fluker*, 698 F.3d 988, 999 (7th Cir.2012). Rather, courts have held that circumstantial evidence establishing that the evidence was what the proponent claimed it to be was sufficient. *See, e.g., State v. Thompson*, 777 N.W.2d 617, 624 (N.D.2010). Circumstantial proof might include the email address, cell phone number, or screen name connected with the message; the content of the messages, facts included within the text, or style of writing; and metadata such as the document's size, last modification date, or the

computer IP address. See *Fluker*, 698 F.3d at 999; *United States v. Siddiqui*, 235 F.3d 1318, 1322–1323 (11th Cir.2000); *United States v. Safavian*, 435 F.Supp.2d 36, 40–41 (D.D.C.2006).

While direct evidence is not required to authenticate a text message or email, most jurisdictions require something more than just confirmation that the number or email address belonged to a particular person. See, e.g., *In re F.P.*, 878 A.2d 91, 93–95 (Pa.Super.Ct.2005) (instant messages properly authenticated through circumstantial evidence including screen names and context of messages and surrounding circumstances); *Commonwealth v. Williams*, 456 Mass. 857, 926 N.E.2d 1162 (2010) (admission of MySpace message was error where proponent advanced no circumstantial evidence as to security of MySpace page or purported author's exclusive access). It is important that there be evidence that the emails, instant messages, or text messages themselves contained factual information or references corroborated by the parties involved. For example, in *Safavian* the District of Columbia district court held that email messages were properly authenticated where the email addresses contained distinctive characteristics such as the name of the person connected to the address, the name of the sender or recipient, and the content of the emails further authenticated them as being from the purported sender to the purported recipient. *Safavian*, 435 F. Supp. 2d 36, 39 (D.D.C. 2006) (also stating “the Court need not find that the e-mails are necessarily what the proponent claims, only that there is evidence sufficient for the jury to make such a finding.”)

As the rationale of these jurisdictions demonstrates, establishing the identity of the author of a text message or email through the use of corroborating evidence is critical to satisfying the threshold authentication requirement for admissibility. When there has been an objection to admissibility of a text message, the proponent of the evidence must explain the purpose for which the text message is being offered and provide sufficient direct or circumstantial

corroborating evidence of authorship in order to authenticate the text message as a condition precedent to its admission. *State v. Koch*, 334 P.3d 280, 288 (Idaho 2014).

The State, consistent with the requirements of authentication under Rule 901, SCRE, and consistent with numerous state and federal jurisdictions, sufficiently established that the text messages in question were what it purported the texts to be. Officer Murphy testified he obtained a search warrant for the cell phone records belonging to Samuel Collins. (R. p. 142, lines 3-20.) Murphy also testified he obtained a search warrant for the phone belonging to Cody Brown. (R. p. 142, line 21- p. 143, line 2.) Thus, with Murphy's testimony, the State presented evidence the phone numbers in question were assigned to Samuel Collins and Cody and Brown by the cellular service phone company.

The State then presented the testimony of Cody Brown, who would establish by extrinsic corroborating evidence that the sender of the texts was Collins. Brown testified he knew the texts were from Collins because the phone number sending the text was a number he identified in the past as belonging to Collins. (R. p. 157, lines 1-14.) Brown testified he told the police about the text from Collins, and the police confiscated the phone on which he received the text message. (R. p. 157, line 16 – p. 158, line 7.) Brown also testified that after his discussion with police about the text messages, the police searched his home and located the gun, shells, and clothes referenced in the message. (R. p. 158, lines 5-16.) Brown said he received the text in the middle of the night, but when he looked in the back of his truck the following morning, the gun and clothing were placed where the text said the items would be. (R. p. 161, line 12 – p. 162, line 14.)

Brown's testimony further authenticated the messages based the corroborating testimony that Brown found the items in the exact place where the text message said the items would be.

The sender of the message clearly had familiarity with Brown's sleep habits, home address, and personal vehicle. Moreover, the sender returned the particular items Collins borrowed from Brown. Thus, based on the context of the messages, the identification of the borrowed items, the corroboration of the items in the truck the next morning, and because Brown had called and texted Collins on the same number in the past, the State sufficiently authenticated the text messages.

In his brief, Collins suggests the State should have called a records custodian from the cell phone carrier to authenticate the texts. (IBOA p. 9.) However, even if the State had presented a custodian to testify that the number belonged to Collins (in addition to the testimony of Officer Murphy), the custodian would not be able to testify Collins actually typed the text to Brown. Instead, because the text messages were authenticated with extrinsic evidence by Brown, it was not necessary to establish a chain of custody by calling an employee of the cell phone provider. *See State v. Brockmeyer*, 406 S.C. 324, 352–53, 751 S.E.2d 645, 660 (2013) (noting if the challenged evidence is not fungible, but is unique and readily identifiable, a strict chain of custody is not required for admission into evidence). Under Rule 901, SCRE, “readily identifiable items must merely be authenticated by a showing of ‘evidence sufficient to support a finding that the matter in question is what its proponent claims,’” *Id.* The ultimate goal of chain of custody requirements is simply to ensure that the item is what it is purported to be. *State v. Hatcher*, 392 S.C. 86, 95, 708 S.E.2d 750, 755 (2011); *State v. Aragon*, 354 S.C. 334, 336–37, 579 S.E.2d 626, 627 (Ct. App. 2003) (holding establishment of a chain of custody was not necessary since the audiotaped conversation was otherwise authenticated under Rule 901, SCRE); *United States v. Howard–Arias*, 679 F.2d 363, 366 (4th Cir. 1982) (“The ‘chain of custody’ rule is but a variation of the principle that real evidence must be authenticated prior to

its admission into evidence.”). As the case law shows, the inference that Collins authored the messages may be proven circumstantially through the testimony of Brown and Murphy. The State was not required to present a representative from the phone carrier to prove a strict chain of custody and authenticate the texts.

The State presented sufficient evidence to support authentication of the text messages, and the trial court properly found them admissible on this basis. Further, the State argued the text messages were statements made by a party opponent pursuant to Rule 801(d)(2), SCRE. Having authenticated the texts as a prerequisite to admissibility, the texts were not hearsay and were properly admissible as Collins own admissions of the location of the murder weapon following the shooting death of Jon Chernol.

Harmless Error

Even if this Court were to find the admission of the texts to be error, any error is entirely harmless in this case. Error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt if it does not contribute to the verdict. *State v. Fletcher*, 379 S.C. 17, 25, 664 S.E.2d 480, 484 (2008); *see also, State v. Garner*, 389 S.C. 61, 67–68, 697 S.E.2d 615, 618 (Ct. App. 2010) (“[I]mproper admission of hearsay testimony constitutes reversible error only when the admission causes prejudice. Such error is deemed harmless when it could not have reasonably affected the result of the trial, and an appellate court will not set aside a conviction for such insubstantial errors.”) The harmlessness of an error in the admission of evidence generally depends on the materiality of the evidence in relation to the case as a whole. *State v. Haselden*, 353 S.C. 190, 196, 577 S.E.2d 445, 448 (2003).

Collins argued he did not object to Brown testifying to the contents of the text messages between Brown and Collins and he, in fact, did not object when Brown recalled he received a

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